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The Pamphlets have been compiled in the hope that there will be
something of interest in them for the present and future

residents of Pampisford. The six volumes should be seen, not as
a conclusion, but rather, as a starting point from which other
researches might be made. A great deal still lies waiting to

be discovered.
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THE PARISH OF PAMPISFORD - AN INTRODUCTION

The village of Pampisford lies 7 miles south-east of
Cambridge. The Parish, which covers 1,607 acres, lies
between two rivers; the River Cam, flowing through a small
section of the Parish in the south-west and the River Granta,
which forms a small stretch of the Parish boundary in the
north-east. The eastern boundary of the Parish follows

the Roman road running north from Stump Cross with the
remain-ing boundary following the irregular pattiern of

the field edges.

The western part of the Parish is less than 100 feet

above sea level, but in the east the land rises towards the
edge of the Essex uplands to 175 feet. Light soils overlay
a subsoil of middle chalk throughout the Parish, although
an overlay of glacial gravel exists around the area of
Pampisford Hall and river gravel deposits occur in the
Pampisford Mill area and near the River Canm.

The land in the Parish is predomirnantly agricultural

and despite ever-increasing pressure from the larger
neighbouring village of Sawston, Pampisford has so far managed
to retain it® own rural identity.

A prominent feature of the local landscape is the Brent
Ditch, thought to belong to the 5th century; the purpose

of the ditch is still something of a mystery, although
recent excavations suggest it had a defensive purpose.

Brent Ditch can most clearly be seen where it passes through
the grounds of Pampisford Hall. It is one of 4 dykes
blocking access along the pre-historic Icknield Way.



Habitation in Pampisford grew up along the street now

known as the High Street. At one end stood the Cld Vicarage
(now called Fiddler's Folly) and at the other end stood
Lordship Farm ( now called Manor Farm). In the middle was the
ohurch, which today is dedicated to St. John the Baptist.
The half of the Parish lying north-east of the Roystion-
Newmarket (A505) road, was largely uninhabited until the
19th Century, when Pampisford Hall was built and the gardens
and parkland developed. Generally population settlement

has been fairly dispersed throughout the Parish. In 1086
Pampisford's population boasted 137 inhabitants, in 1728
there were 40 families and by 1851 the population rose to

a peak at 359. The population of 1851 was described as
"being almost entirely composed of poor people" - a fact
which had been the case throughout Pampisford's history.

The 01d Vicarage, Rectory Farm and the Chezuers Public

House are all that remain of a number of 1l6th and 17th
Century farm houses. Cottages on the High Street and Beech
Lane also date from this period. The church is the only
remaining medieval building which has however, undergone

a series of alterations and additions dating from the 12th,
13th and 14th Centuries and later alterations during the

19th Century (in 1850 and 1876-91). The church exterior

is built of flint and pebble rubble and part of the structure
dates from Norman ftimes.

A Parish Charity has existed as far back as 1604 at least.
In 1677 its main purpose was for repair of the church,

any money remaining was to be distributed among the poor of
the Parish. At the time of inclosure in 1801 the Charity
was allotted 16 acres 2 roods and 34 perches. Also 3 Alms
Houses belonging to the Charity,were set aside for the
needs of the Parish poor. During the 19th Century between
£5 and £7 was spent annually on coal for the needy. A new
structure for Charity expenditure was formulated in 1905.
This is under review at the present time.

Today Pampisford's Pensioners and disabled receive help
from the Charity with transport expenses and an annual
Christmas Gift. A similar Charity exists in Sawston, but
payments appear not to have been made since 1786.

According to the Doomesday (Surveys), Pampisford consisted
of two Manors and from the 17th Century, at least, the land
has been held by only a small number of owners. The Marsh
family held both Manors in the 17th Century, both eventually
passing, by marriage, into the Parker family. The Parker-
Hamonds were the first Lords of the Manor to live in the
village since the 15th Century. Their family brought

about several improvements in the Parish, by supporting the
church, the school and other institutions including a
Workmen's Institute. Pampisford Hall was built during the
1820's and the grounds developed to include a fine arboretum
of conifers containing specimens from all over the world.



Finally in 1865 a line from Great Shelford via Haverhill

to Sudbury was built through the Parish. A new station,
close by the old one at Bourne Bridge was erected, along
with cattle pens and eventually the Railway Inn Public House.
This station along with the railway line was closed in 1967.
Today the station site area is occupied by Solopark, but
some of the old buildings remain.

During the 20th Century Pampisford expanded and in the 1930's
the council housés~built along Brewery Road and later

Church Lane. Two more roads were created by developers,
circa 1970 - Hammond Close (private development) and Glebe
Crescent (Council development). A number of private houses
have also been built in recent times.

In 1835,as systems of local government developed, Pampisford
became incorporated with the Poor-Law Union at the Linton
Rural District. By 1934 Pampisford became part of the

South Cambridgeshire Rural District which eventually became
amalgamated with Chesterton in 1974 to form the South
Cambridgeshire District Council. It was from this Council
that a structure plan for the whole of the Cambridge area
was devised in 1981. Aims were established to preserve
agricultural land and encourage local industries, (especially
'high tech') in a few selected locations, in order to fulfil
local needs and combat 'commuterisation'. In 1983 the
details of the overall plan, as it affected Pampisford,

was presented to the village. Under the plan the Parish
was designated as an area where housing and industrial
development were to be restrained and agricultural land
preserved. Protected frontages were suggested as a way

of conserving Pampisford's historic buildings and views
across open countryside within the village. In this way,
the characteristics of the village might be maintained.

A strongly contested debate ensued over the Pampisford/
Sawston boundaries, as the District Plan appeared to
include part of Pampisford within the "yillage envelope"
of Sawston. Pampisfordians insisted that no part of the
Parish should be absorbed in any way into the expanding
village of Sawston. An understanding was reached and so
far Pampisford is still maintaining its own boundaries

and rural characteristics.
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Pampisford lies 3% miles south of an old crossing point
at Worsted Lodge, where the Roman road, the Via Devana,
crosses the pre-historic track known as the Icknield Vay.

Long before the birth of Christ or the coming of the Romans
to Britain one feature of the landscape which passed through
the old kingdom of Iceni in East Anglia was the Icknield
Way. This pre-historic track-way traversed the country
from Brancaster on the north Norfolk coast, south-west
along the chalkbelt to Avebury in Wiltshire. The course

of this ancient and enduring way passes through the Parish
of Pampisford. Opinions differ, however, on the particular
line the Icknield Way takes through the Parish. 1In any
case the Icknield wasn't a roadway with a regular and
standardised width characteristic of today's roads. At
certain points in its long journey the Icknield broadened
into a very wide swathe and no precise line can be traced -
needless to say it passed through Pampisford. Whilst one
opinion favours the road from Royston to Newmarket (A505),
another favours the road from Great Chesterford to Newmarket
(Al11). It could be that the Icknield encompassed both
roads at some point. The ancient Brent Ditch has always
been associated with the Icknield Way, and if the position
of the Brent Ditch is taken into consideration, then at
least this area of the All could be regarded as part of

the Icknield. The way then leaves the All, north of

Stump Cross, taking a westerly direction towards Ickleton
and Heydon Ditch.

Of the five earthworks associated with the Icknield Way,
three are considered to be defensive in purpose} Devils
Dyke, Fleam Dyke and Heydon Ditch. The remaining two,
Brent Ditch and Mile Ditch remain obscure in origin.

Brent Ditch runs from the uplands of Abington Park to the
spring-head at Dickman's Grove, Pampisford. It is between
27 and 30 feet wide and up to 7 feet in height and can best
been seen along a stretch running through the grounds of
Pampisford Hall. During the medieval period it was known
as Branke Ditch or Green Ditch. In the Hundred Rolls of
Chilford, two tenants were recorded as living there, described
as "Thomas at Ditch" and "Maud in Ditch".

Numerous Roman Roads exist in this locality. The Via Devana

is of course, truly Roman but its present name only dates
backione18th Century when the notion arose that the road

led on north-west to Chester (Deva). Whilst this may have some
validity,Ivan Margary in his book on "Roman Roads in Britain"
suggests that the name Worsted Lodge gives us a clue to the
road's original name - Wool Street. From this crossing

point south. the (All) Roman road was of importance as it

led to the Roman town of Great Chesterford and then onwards
- to St. Albans.

4

E
Although the local population in Roman times is supposed to
have been as high as any other area in south-eastern England,
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FIELD MARKINGS NEAR HANLEY'S HILL-RECTORY FARM

Photograph by courtesy of Graeme Price

Roman remains recovered sc far, are few. Crop markings,
many of which only appeared in the drought years of the
1970's, sometimes appear in the field near the A505
roundabout. These indicate previous land uses but of
what nature or size is at yet unknown.

Two moated earthworks lie close 1o each other in the Crove
area of College Farm. Both are rectangular and have sides
measuring between 150 - 200 feet. One has a raised
enclosure and both are surrounded by ditch or moat. Their
precise age is not known but they may have been defended
dwelling places, forts or even the remains of an early
Manor House.

The Vikings annexed East Anglia after their invasion of 856 AD,

but as in other parts of the country, 0ld Anglo-Saxon Kings

and Earls fought to re-establish themselves. The Earl of

Brithnoth (Ealdorman Beorhtnoth), who owned lands in Cambridgeshire,
sought to restore the lands which had been seized by local

megnates after the death of King Edgar. He succeeded and

presented the lands, including Pampisford, to the Abbey

of Ely in 991 AD, just prior to his own death, fighting the
Vikings, at the forlorn Battle of Maldon.

Two Manors existed in Pampisford and with the Abbey of Ely's
ownership of the principal Manor, the Abbey became the largest
land owner in the Parish., The second Manor was held by

Almar from Queen Edith (Eddeva) the Fair.




THE NORMAN CONQUEST 1066

: N C S i - in theory at least,
After the Norman Conquest , the land - 1in . L€
belonged to King William and although the Normans agcnizmated
the population, they did not entirely displace the o
Anglo-Saxon Lords.

After William's victory, he repaid his sgerals and syppﬁ;tigﬁ
by granting them lands which they and their sub-tepan;§ : e

in return for military service, rents, or labour 1n Xxind.

It was this system that gave rise to growth and development

of feudalism.

In the Domesday Survey of Pampisford the principa. Manﬁr.
which of course belonged to the Abbey of Ely, was "held

by Hardwin de Scalers. Picot of Cambridge also held %and

in Pampisford. Both men were Norman-French and notorlogs X
for the despoiling of land in the area. Picot was partlgulariy
disliked by the monks at Ely who described him as "A Roving
Volf" and "A Greedy Hog" who feared not God or St. Etheldreda.
Countess Judith also held land in Pampisford at this time,

as did Count Alan of Brittany who held the Second Manor

from Queen Eddeva the Fair.

The lands of the Abbot of Ely covered l/sth of the County
of Cambridgeshire and therefore he was the most important
Ecclesiastical Tenant of the King; part of these lands were
cultivated as Vineyards. In Pampisford the Abbot's holdings

were described thus in the Domesday Survey: -
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By the 12th Century the Ely lands in Pampisford came into

secular ownership, when they were granted to Walter of
Pampisford. Sir John Crek or Creek,Sherriff of Cambridgeshire,

became Lord of Pampisford's principal Manor in the 1l4th
Century. Two exceptional brasses commemorating Sir John _
and his wife can be seen in the Church of Westley Waterless.
It is interesting to speculate whether Creek's Plantation

in Pampisford has any connection here.

The actual name of the Village has changed and developed
throughout history. The present name of Pampisford

could be considered mis-leading,as no ford exists in the
Village. However,the Norman place-name of Langford (i.e.,
Langford Arch) meaning long ford gives rise to speculation
that a ford existed sometime in Pampisford's history.

The Domesday Survey of 1086 gives the Village name as
Pampesworde or Pampeswrde. Pampesworth continued to be

used throughout the 13th and 1l4th Centuries at least.

This particular version does describe its Anglo-Saxon
origins i.e., "pampe's Worth" or Pampe's enclosure after

an early settler of that name. Other early names associated
with the Parish are Petfeld i.e., Pit field,probably a

chalk or claypit and Pampesworthay i.e., Pampisford Hay.

Two very local versionsof the Village name have survived
through history, but via the spoken rather than the written

word, namely "Panser" or "Pansay".

¥ ‘see Cover
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THE_FOURTEENTH CENTURY ';{'“. ALl T

By 1307 Edward II was on the throne. feckless and extravagant
by nature, he was quite unfit for the role of monarch.
Threats from the powerful baronial families were ever-
present during this era and the country's rulers needed

to be watchful. Stung and humiliated after Robert Bruce's
victory at the Battle of Bannockburn in 1314, England and

the King felt the need to absolve themselves from disgrace.

A survey of the country was carried out in order to raise
men and arms "for the Scotch War".

An inquisition was taken in Cambridgeshire and the following
entry appears for Pampisford detailing the monies levied and

their use.
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The 36 shillings levied from Pampisford was higher than the
amount levied from Sawston and many other Cambridgeshire
villages. In comparison, therefore, Pampisford was better
armed. Any foot soldiers that were raised had to find
their own arms and local villagers were expected to use
their own imagination when the time came to do battle.
Aucher, son of Henry and grandson of John de Creek, was
Lord of Pampisford's principal Manor and it was he who
mustered the men of Pampisford on behalf of the Chilford
Hundreds and King Edward in readiness for war.
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Every day life in the feudal Society of this time was harsh
and concerned Simply with survival, Individual villages
would be largely self-sufficient with their own Lords,
labourers ang craftsmen Supplying all the local needs.

88 woodland ang moorland yas utilised, Life for the

ordinary villager remained at Subsitance level, he had hig
food-rents to P&y the Lord of the Manor and tythes to the
Parish Priest. The results of the annya3l harvest were cruciaj




During the fateful Summer of 1349 bubonic plague spread

from Europe and swept through the British Isles. Quite
apart from the horror and suffering caused, one of the

most dramatic effects was the enormous loss of life.

The population was reduced by between 1/3rd to 1/2 and
this was to leave significant consequences for the future.
How Pampisford was effected cannot be fully known. A
rather sparse entry from the records of the Manorial Courts
of Sawston however, reveals the fate of one Pampisford

family.
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The records then reveal Eodierna Lorkyn, John's wife,
took over the property at the Wych after paying the Court
& doing fealty. At the same Court Session Hodierna was
fined along with others, probably for damaging the Lord's
meadow. She was also fined one penny for not taking part
in the haymaking. Fines for absence from work were
imposed despite the fact that many of the population were
sick and dying from the Black Death. Hodierna may have
escaped the awful malady, but the rest of her family were
victims, whom she no doubt was forced to nurse.

Hodierna herself survived, at least tntil the next Court
Session at Michaelmas 1349 when she paid 2 shillings for

a licence to let 4 acres and a messuage to Walter Almar

for 3 years. It may well be that she let her property

at Wych to Walter and then left the area. Very many more
people at Pampisford would have lost their lives. Only

the deaths of the most notable appear in the records and

it is very difficult to imagine the horror such a great loss
of life would bring, especially to very small communities.

With such a reduction in population people were no longer
land-hungry, infact the situation was reversed as land-owners
had great difficulty finding labour to farm their estates.

A considerable amount of land previocusly used for farming

was consequently abandoned.

Sir John Shardelowe, who had married Joan the Widow of
Aucher, was Lord of Pampisford's principa]l Manor at this
time. The name of the Parish Priest is uncertain during
the time of the Black Death but in 1357 Hugo de Burre
was the Priest and remained so for the next 20 years.
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A_SERIES OF EXTRACTS ILLUSTRATING 14th CENTURY LIFE

. An extract from the Commoners Rolls of 1357 reveals the
following

Tobn Gudbsnt of _ ngww
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The incident is recorded because a deodand was granted.

A deodand was literally 'A Gift to God'. When a

person met a sudden or violent death before a Priest could
shrive him, the object that caused the death was given

to God via the Church for charitable purposes or for
prayers for the person killed. 1In reality most deodands
went to the King - at this time Edward III.

. ¢ A further
scrap of information about Pamgisford appears in the
Sawston Manorial records of 1360. Tt concerns a member
of the family who were destined to become the Lords of
Pampisford's Manor.

e Towards the latter part of the 14th Century the country
was begining to feel the economic effects of the costly

The tax was universally unpopular resulting in numer
scattered revolts. The most seriéus being %he rebellgg:
headed by Watt Tyler, whose rebels marched on London ang
murdered the Archbishop of Canterbury and other prominent

people. Various areas of the country were aff
200 rebels were hanged. y ected. over

In Cambridgeshire a4 revolt was led by John Webbe
of P
He played & leading part in the sacking of the Manor ::PiSford.

e In 1391 the death of "Richard at Wyeh" igs recoerded.

* See pamphlet on People
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This illustration shows the main features of an average village in feudal England.
The village, with the main street as its spine, is surrounded by huge open fields,
all divided into individual strips. Each field, in rotation, grows a different crop
each year, and one of them always "'lies fallow', producing grazing for cows,
Each of the lord’s tenants holds a different number of strips; for the sake of
clarity, an imaginary holding is indicated here with dark strips




THE FIFTEENTH CENTURY

By the early 15th Century the Cloville family owned

both the Manors of Pampisford. Feudalism had been weakened
by the effect of the Black Death and the Peasants’ Revolt.
Most notably in the 15th Century was the bloody internal
strife of the baronial wars, culminating in the Wars of the
Roses, which led to the weakening of the baronial families.
So many of them perished on the battlefield or by execution.
Towards the end of the 15th Century, no Lord held the power
to hold bond-slaves and a new order of resident squirearchy
and tenant began to emerge.

The three field system of farming was established and the
field patterns settled. Four fields were recorded at
Pampisford - not unusual in the Bourne Valley area -

Brand Ditch, Middle, Mill and Dean or Down Field. It

appears that Dean Field was rather small and probably only
cultivated intermittently. Although arable farming dominated
the Pampisford scene, the wool trade also began to develop
and as in other areas of the country, East Anglia flourished.
Many fine houses were built, and although sheep flocks
remained rather small in Pampisford, it is possible that

the Dower House was built at this time, as a result of the
wealth created by wool. As many of the landed — aristocracy
continued to destroy themselves in battle, the fortunes made
by the Wool Merchants gave rise to an emergent middle class
who prospered.

John Martyn was a prominent person at this time in Pampisford.
He held Saffrey's Estate (near College Farm), - his name
appears in numerous local documents during the mid 15th
Century. His financial account, along with the others
illustrated here, givesa glimpse into the local life of
Sawston and Pampisford during this era.
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(Acknowledgements are due to Canon Bircham for permission
to publish the accounts in this section)

Labourers at this time would have worked for the local Manor
or the up and coming tenant farmers.

An ordinary village family would have lived on a diet of
pork, (often salted), wheat, rye, oat cakes and ale, in
vast quantities, to make up for the sugar shortage. They
would be allowed to fish in the local rivers for eels with
the permission of the Lord of the Manor., Vegetables,

fruit and herbs were grown in their own "closes" or gardens
and a goat, kept for milk, would be grazed on the common.

A family like the Clovilles would feed on game such as
pigeons, partridges and hares along with a variety of fish
from the local rivers, such as roach, dace and pike. Lamb
would also be available to the Lord of the Manor.



THE SIXTEENTH CENTURY

In the 16th Century the Cloville Family were still the
principal landowners in Pampisford. History records that
they were no longer resident in the Parish at this time.
Nevertheless in 1513 the name of Henry Cloville-Es%uira

of Pampisford, along with Alicia Pott, appears in the Sawston
Court Rolls. They were both fined for encroachment on the
Lord's (i.e., Huddleston 's) lands at Lynton Way in the
fields at Pampisworthay near the Wych.

Absentee or otherwise, the Clovilles controlled the land

in Pampisford almost entirely. Queen's College had acquired
Saffrey's Estate (near College Farm) in 1519 and by 1524
held 232 acres. They also owned Cock Farm or Cock Farnhams,
another small estate (on 18th Century maps "Cockfarnhams"

is shown-opposite the new recreation ground). Queen's
College and the Clovilles 1leased out the lands to yeoman
farmers, often from neighbouring parishes. They worked the
land, creating considerable wealth for themselves based on
‘saffron, arable crops and sheep. Livestock was pastured

on Pampisford's 150 acres of common land.

The yeoman farmers were to become a powerful social force.

In Pampisford, with the prolonged absence of the Lord's of

the Manor from their lands, the yeomanry were ready and
willing to fill the roll of the local Squire. Only two

such yeoman families came to dominate the scene in Pampisford,
the Mortlocks and the Turtlebys. The Mortlock family in
particular were to rise in prominence in Cambridge during

the succeeding generation, to influence local life and

events.

Once more it is in the local Court Rolls that we are able
to gain an impression of ordinary life in the 16th Century.
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It was however, during this century that a most dramatic episode
occured in the local area.

In the country at large, the Tudors dominated the scene

by establishing and centralising power in the monarchy.

The over-mighty barons had been dealt with and an attack

on the power of the Roman Church by Henry VIII followed,

the effect of which was to give rise to Protestantism.

In 1553, during the intrigues that ensued after the death

of Henry's ailing son Edward VI, the next heir to the
throne, Mary Tudor, found herself in great danger whilst

on the way to London to claim her title. It was at Hoddesdon
that she came to hear of a plot against her if she continued
her journey to the capital. Both she and her party decided
to return immediately to her Norfolk Estate at Kenninghall
near Attleborough. By nightfall they had reached Sawston
and were given shelter by the Huddlestons at Sawston Hall.
After their departure the next morning, the hall, then a
half timbered mansion, was set alight by 'A Mob'.

Presumably Protestants outraged by the presence of the
devoutly Catholic Mary.



Traditionally several colourful versions of this story
exist. Travis Teversham in his "History of Sawston"
describes in some detail his opinion of these events.

He also plots the route east which Mary and her party
were most likely to take from Sawston to Kenninghall, on
that particular July morning of 1553.

"From the back of the house, over the moat,
past two-pond Grove and the Lady Wash,
straight through Hayfield Planten and
Pampisford Woods to Brent Ditch End and
then over Pampisford Hill to Bourne

Bridge and the Newmarket Road. It

would have been from near the top of
Pampisford Hill, that the Party looked
westwards to see the smoke and flames
rising from the burning Mansion".

We can never be certain that Mary Tudor passed through
Pampisford during her escape from Sawston. It wouldn't
have been an easy journey for her if she had, for although
the Huddleston family were staunchly Catholic, the

influential Turtleby family of Pampisford had other
sympathies.

The horror and religious persection wrought upon Protestants
of all social classes during Mary's reign mitigated against

the Roman Catholic cause, leaving fear, hatred and mistrust

between the two main factions of the Church - a legacy

that would reverberate through the Centuries to come.
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THE SEVENTEENTH CENTURY

Fustace Cloville scld his

Towards the end of the 16th Century .
Pzzpisford retate to Thomas Marsh,an official of the Star Chamber.

The Manor was owned by the Marsh family throughout the 17th
of the family were destined to becomne

Century and two members : . :
Sheriffs of Cambridge. Even 8o they did not reside 1n

Pampisford.
A dominating theme in the 17th Century was that of religious
strife. Non-conformism in religious affairs began to threaten
the Church of England. Puritanism in its various forms
grew, especially in East Anglia.

In Pampisford Robert Turtleby, a known non-conformist, had
left the Parish before the begining of the 17th Century and

no strong individual dissenters were recorded until the 18th
Century. However, puritanical sympathies were in evidence.

In 1605 the Vicar of Pampisford did not use a cross in Baptism
In 1638 Matthew Wren, the Archbishop

nor did he wear a surplice.
of Ely, who was disposed towards Catholicism, visited the area
to encourage more sacramental forms of worship. In Pampisford

the following comments were made with regard to the Church.
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peSpite the effort made by Bishop Wren to bring about conformism
in the local Churches, the discussions in society during the
17th Century were not only concerned with religious affairs.
The rise of parliamentary power brought Members of Parliament
}nto conflict with the power of the monarchy. A contest of
ideals developed and during the winter of 1641/42 a polarisation

of loyalties between King and Parliament took place. By
August 1642 Civil War broke out in England.

In Cambridgeshire, feeling moved towards non-conformity

and parliamentarianismu Cromwell recruited locally and founded
the military league with "Eastern Association" in the opening
years of the VWar. Cambridgeshire,though isolated from direct
battlefield confrontation, was nevertheless heavily garrisoned.

Religious reform were also taking place in Cambridgeshire under the
control of the fanatical Suffolk puritan William Dowsing. He

had been appointed by the Duke of Manchester to clear local
Churches of "idolatrous images, pictures and popish objects

and stained glass". Witchburning followed and Churchmen were
persecuted. The Royalists in Cambridgeshire suffered greatly

under the imposition of heavy fines and the sequestrations

of goods and property.

William Dowsing visited Pampisford on March 19th, 1643 - the
following is recorded in his journal:
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The steps referred to would be the Chancel steps. The
reference to "put up" the windows could have been better
decribed as "put out" in today's language. It is possible that
some of the parishioners joined in the destruction of the
windows, even though it was they, in their extreme poverty, who
would be expected to pay for the replacement of non-offending

glass.

How much destruction of the medieval windows took place at this
time is, however, difficult to judge as much of the irreplaceable
medieval stained glass disappeared in later centuries.

Sometimes this was due to sheer in-difference and neglect, but

removal by dishonest glaziers was also a factor.

Originally two carved figures representing St. John baptising
Christ had graced the top of the wooden font cover in Pampisford
Church. In the | 18th Century they were described as being
'decapitated'. This damage may well have been carried out

during Dowsing's visit of 1643.



t a background of continual

The Civil War took place agains
urred regularly in Cambridgeshire

breaks (such outbreaks occ

plague out

from 1597-1774 - at least every five years). Vagrants, wanderers

and gypsies were blamed for carrying the plngae around the

country. After a violent outbreak of the plague in Cambridge
such people.

in 1630 a strong campaign was waged aglnst
Parishes were warned not to take wanderers in, as they become
This policy

reliant on the Parish and also spread disease.
own durlng the Civil War and

towards vagrants however, broke d
many Parish Constables were har d pressed in dealing with

vagrants and canp follocwers.
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Among his many other duties concerned with vagrancy, the Parish
Constable for Whittlesford records that he received 8 pence
for "caring (carrying) a great buly (burly) woman to Panser".
This was during the time that Cromwell's army was encamped
on Thriplow Heath. Many vagrants were whipped and even
branded before being sent back to their own Parishes. Despite
the suspicion and fear that people harboured against vagrants
and‘travellers they were an extremely common phenomenon.
Various recorded incidents suggest they were tolerated in
Pampisford and tradionally lived in and around the Parish.
Upon death some were buried in the churchyard and in later
%ﬁarshvagrant families had their children christened in the
qurch.,

In 1649, three years after the Civil War ended, Charles I was
beheaded and Cromwell established the "Commonwealth and
Protectorate". The new order lasted only 11 years and by

1660 the monarchy was re-established when Charles II was restored
to the throne. Church conformity was imposed by law and High
Anglicanism returned with a vengence. The churches were purged
of their puritan ministers and non-conformists were arrested.
Scores of people in East Anglia were imprisoned for their
beliefs. Puritanism after the restoration survived but

wmainly among the poor sections of the population. The split
between Church and Chapel had began.

Despite the return of High Anglicanism, churches in the area
remained in a deplorable state. Most church fonts were
described as "foul and nasty"; a simple basin was generally used
when baptisms were performed. From 1685 onwards for nearly
two tenturies, ruinous and neglected ohurches were a common
feature of the local landscape. Although many people in this
region were slow to abandon their puritan customs, church
neglect was not entirely due to puritan excesses. The sheer
spiritual exhaustion of parishioners who had suffered the

va cillations of religious strife was also a factor,
especially in a parish as poor as Pampisford.

In Pampisford church, altar rails remained unreplaced for years
and the Church lacked even the most basic books. 01d hymn and
prayer books that had suffered reformist mutilation during

the Civil War were all that existed and these were still in use
scmetime after the restoration of the monarchy. One concerned
parishioner, named Henry Beeton, did however leave two
written works to the church in his will in 1695. One work was
by Erasmus - (the humanist writer who was said to have laid

the egg Luther was to hatch) and the other a work by Bishop
Jewel whose "treatise" was regarded as the best 16th Century

defence of the Anglican claims.

As the 17th Century closed, a new era began. An Act of
Parliament removed the penalties imposed on non-conformist
worshippers and a degree of toleration was allowed in religious
affairs. (Catholics however were not granted freedom of
worship until 1828).
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THE EIGTHEENTH CENTURY

The 18th Century was the age of enlightened @eSpotism; it

saw the expansion of overseas trade and the dawning of_the ;
British Empire. It was the age of Queen Anne and the Hanovarians.
Trade flourished and many towns, especially portg, expanded.
Communications throughout the c¢entury began to improve;most

notably on the roads.

The Turnpike Trust had bern founded as far back as 166?. Tt

was designed to build roads and keep them in gooq repair.

Users of the turnpiked roads were charged according to the type of
waggon or load they presented at the Tollhouse. Nevertheless
by the 1720's the number of roads that were passable for a coach
or a horse were few and foot travel was still largely used. An
Act was passed in 1794 to increase the number of roads falling
under the turnpike system and despite the great resentment

among the local populace - who had previously used the routes
for generations without charge - roads and communications began
to improve. New, hard roads were built for the first time since
the Roman occupation! Milestones were introduced for the
benefit of the travelling public and it was interesting to

note that the first milestone ever to be set up can still be

seen in Trumpington.

Paupisford had three turnpike roads: Royston to Newmarket

was turnpiked between 1769-1874; the Chesterford to Newnarket
and the Saffron VWalden to Cambridge roads were both turnpiked
under the Act of 172/ until 1870. The general effects of
turnpiking was enormous as can be judged by the time it tcok for
a journey between London and Edinburgh: in 1754 - 10 days,

in 1836 - 45 hours..

This Century saw the introduction of the stage coach, improved
postal services and the development of the coaching inn. The
Chequers was established as an inn during the late 18th Century
and even in Pampisford traffic increased sufficiently to
necessitate the erection of fences and posts around property
as protection against "travelling horses", By far the busiest
area in the locality was Bourne Bridge just over Pampisford's
northem parish boundary. The turnpike road between Great
Chesterford and Newmarket, which formed Pampisford's eastern
boundary, was particularly busy. It was part of the liorwich to
London route and traffic was so heavy that upkeep of the road
became glmost impossible. Frances Nunn,a local carrier,complained
that it took him three hours to get from Bourne Bridge to
Chesterford because of the poor condition of the road.

There had been an inn at Bournebridge for generations but in the
18th Century, the Kings Arms Inn,lying just north of the Bourne
river boundary, was to become one of the most important nodal
points in the area. Even in 1714 it was described as being
"full of bustle".

As the general traffic developed so did the Kings Arms and
eventually all manner of business was transacted there. It was
surrounded by pleasant gardens where archery and bowls contests



were greatly enjoyed. It became famous for its d}nners and

many university people and local notaries dined there. Apart

from sports, dancing and dinners, the inn became a centre for

the local fox-hunters and, in time of war, a base for mustering

the militia. All kinds of weighty business took place at the 1
Kings Arms. Along with the collection of tolls, it was responsible
for the post and all manner of coaching. Over 30 horses were

kept to service mail coaches and travellers. Bourne Eridgg cottages,
which still stand, were once the stables belonging to the Kings
Arms inn. Conmissioners of Tax, the Turnpike Trustees and )
later, when John Phipps was landlord, the Commissioners for the
inclosure of the common land in Pampisford met at the Kings Arms.

With so much activity it is not surprising that a second inn,

the White Hart, opened on the opposite side of the road. William
Cole, the celebrated Antiquary who was born at the Kings Arms in
1714, later described the White Hart " a simple thatched cottage
used by a toll keeper". It was enlarged later and when the
Lagden family ran the inn,various rumours and scandals became
associated with it. Could it be that highwaymen operated from
the White Hart ?

Naturally Bourne Bridge became a focus for the opportunist

amd in 1792 the postboy, bringing the mail in a cart from
Cambridge to Bourne Bridge, was attacked and robbed. Three men
from London, one disguised in a smock, tied up the boy and

left him in a wood. They seized the mail bag and robbed them
of all bank notes. Reputedly, they took between £5,000 and
£10,000 from the Cambridge mail.

In 1799 Mr. Adeane of Babraham was attacked by a man with a
pistol who was dressed in blue with a slouched hat and crepe
over his face. These highway attacks created considerable
public concern and speculation grew that the Lagden family
were involved¥

During the 18th Century the violent strife previously experienced
in religious affairs had abated. An Act of Parliament, passed

in’ the late 17th Century, removed the penalties imposed on
non-conformists, thus allowing a degree of religious toleration
around the various Protestant factions. A rebirth of the old
puritanical cause emerged in the shape of John Wesley (1703-1791)
and the Methodist movement. John Wesley toured the countr
gaining converts despite the hostility of the Church of England.
Eventually Chapel as well as Church was to become an established
part of Christian worship in Britain. No chapel was built in
Pampisford but in the last decade of the 18th Century, two houses
in the Village were licensed for non-conformist worship,

* See pamphlet on 'People'



The following varied extracts help illustrate local life
in the 18th century
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As the 18th Century closed the neyw era in agricultural practice
began in Pampisford with the eral Inclosure Act of 1801.
Although a certain amount of osure had been taking place
for many years, the coming of the general (and final) Act,
meant that farming, land ownership and the landscape of England
were to change profoundly.

mall snippet of information concerning Pampisford in the

e 18th Century can be found in the "Estates Trespass'" of 1772.
omplaint was lodged by William Keane of Pampisford against
ejection by force from lands he still held in tenancy, not yet
expired, by Edmund Salsbury late of Royston and his yeoman

of Royston. Precisely why this forced evietion took place

and by whom it was initiated, is open to speculation. It may,
however, act as a presage of the changes that were to come for
the small farmer in the suceeding century.
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